FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/9/2021 4:15 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/10/2021
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100462-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
No. 78277-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON

GULL INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

GRANITE STATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP
Paul J. Lawrence, WSBA # 13557
1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone: 206-245-1700
Facsimile: 206-245-1750

MARTEN LAW PLLC
Bradley M. Marten, WSBA #13582
Jessica K. Ferrell, WSBA #36917
1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2200
Seattle, WA 98101

I. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Gull Industries, Inc., Petitioner/Cross-Respondent below, seeks review of Part D V – VI establishing when Respondent/Cross-Petitioner, Granite State Insurance Company’s (“Granite”) excess insurance policy’s coverage obligations begin and Part IX B affirming the dismissal *with prejudice* of Gull sites where there had been no litigation filed or evidence of current contamination at the time of dismissal of the Court of Appeal’s decision filed August 23, 2021.

These two parts of the Court of Appeals decision conflict with both Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases (1) recognizing the distinction between general liability insurance (GL) and automobile liability insurance coverages (Auto), (2) recognizing the purpose of “occurrence” clauses in insurance policies and (3) interpreting insurance policy provisions limiting coverage. The result is a substantial reduction in the availability of excess insurance coverage in Washington that broadly will impact Washington policy-

holders. Further, the result significantly reduces the amount of excess insurance coverage that will be available to cover the costs of historical environmental contamination throughout the State. Thus, the decision presents issues of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, issued a published opinion on August 23, 2021. A motion for reconsideration was filed and the Court issued its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration on November 9, 2021.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue 1: Granite issued \$15 million in excess insurance to Gull for each of three policy periods. Each underlying primary policy provided multiple distinct coverages each with its own limits of liability and triggers of coverage. At issue here are GL property damage coverage with limits of \$100,000 and Auto property damage coverage with limits of \$500,000. The GL property damage coverage was undisputedly exhausted

by payment. Does Granite's excess GL coverage drop down to provide primary coverage such that Granite is obligated to provide a defense to and coverage for all GL property damages claims on a first dollar basis or, as the Court of Appeals held, do Granite's obligation only attach after Gull has expended \$600,000, the combined limits of GL and Auto coverages, on a claim?

Issue 2: Granite filed for summary judgment on Gull sites where there was no claim or evidence to date of third-party property damage. Gull moved to dismiss these sites without prejudice because of the potential for future claims or evidence of contamination. Those concerns were justified as subsequently a lawsuit was filed against Gull at one of the sites. Was the trial court's dismissal of these sites with prejudice appropriate as the Court of Appeals held?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. **Gull Spent Significantly to Investigate and Cleanup Contamination from Inadvertent Gasoline Releases.**

Gull is a family owned company established in 1959 and, until approximately 2005, owned and operated more than 220 gas stations and storage and petroleum distribution facilities throughout the Pacific Northwest. CP 215, 23861. As is typical for gas stations operated in the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s, gasoline was released due to (1) leaks in underground storage tanks (“USTs”) and associated piping connecting the USTs to gas pumps, (2) spills from the unloading of bulk fuel trucks, and/or (3) spills from customers over-filling their tanks. *See, e.g.*, CP 4368-73, 5847, 21346-47.

Gull is legally responsible for cleaning up at those sites under Washington’s Model Toxics Control Act (“MTCA”), chapter 70.105D RCW. CP 221, 4364. MTCA imposes strict and joint and several liability on current and former owners of contaminated properties without regard to when that contamination is discovered or who caused it.

RCW 70.105D.040; CP 4364. Gull has been investigating contamination and engaging in cleanup of contaminated soil and groundwater on a continuing basis since at least 1984. CP 23861. Gull's overall past remediation and investigation costs exceed \$17 million to date. CP 23861.

Gull continues to be exposed to cleanup costs and other liability under MTCA from state regulators and private parties. Gull's actual or potential liability is to the States of Washington and Oregon and other property owners (including purchasers of Gull's properties) and individuals at every site it owned or operated. CP 221, 4730. Gull has faced threats of lawsuits at 15 separate station sites and additional notifications from regulatory agencies such as Ecology regarding cleanup demands, Early Notice letters, and potentially liable party notices at 19 station sites. CP 23861. In addition, Gull has been sued by third parties at no fewer than nine sites for issues stemming from alleged petroleum releases and resulting contamination of soil or groundwater. CP 23861. Gull has not

finally resolved its potential liability for alleged petroleum releases and resulting contamination of soil or groundwater to third parties at any of the over 200 stations, with the sole exception of a bulk fuel terminal in Tacoma. CP 23861-62. Gull's ultimate cleanup liability to the States of Washington and Oregon and/or other third parties is unknown, but likely is many tens of millions of dollars. CP 23862.

B. Gull Filed This Lawsuit to Recover, and Ensure Future Coverage of, its Investigation and Remediation Costs.

Gull filed suit against Granite and 11 other insurance companies in 2011, seeking coverage for its environmental response costs. CP 1-17. Specifically, Gull sought (1) a declaratory judgment stating that the insurers' are jointly and severally liable for all defense and indemnity expenses associated with the environmental property damage at each site, (2) damages and interest as to all costs incurred in connection with its liabilities, and (3) reasonable attorney fees and costs. CP 16.

The trial court adopted a phased approach to litigation due to the number of insurers and stations involved in the case. CP 4364. Phase I was divided into two sub-phases: Phase I(a), which addressed principally insurance coverage contract interpretation issues impacting all of Gull's claims through summary judgment adjudication, and Phase I(b), which addressed all other triable issues regarding three test sites through a bench trial. CP 4364, 4367-82. Gull established coverage at one of the test sites ("West Meeker"). CP 4377-79. During this phased approach, every insurer settled or otherwise resolved through payments its liability to Gull except Granite, the sole remaining defendant. CP 4364-65.¹

As a result of the summary judgment adjudications, judgment or dismissal with prejudice was entered on over 100

¹ The total amount of settlements and payments is roughly \$49 million. CP 23868. With the exception of a \$100,000 payment, the remaining settlements were made in conjunction with resolving multiple claims for multiple sites and were not allocated among the claims and sites resolved. CP 23862-64, 23868.

sites. CP 22693-22738. Still remaining for adjudication is Granite's liability at 110 sites.

C. The Trial Court Made Numerous Rulings Interpreting Granite's Coverage Obligations.

Granite issued three separate excess insurance policies to Gull for three policy years from 1980 to 1983 ("Policies"). CP 562-85, 587-614, 467-89. Each of the Granite Policies were excess to multiple coverages including GL and Auto. CP 569, 594, 474. Each provided \$15 million in coverage. CP 562, 587, 467.

Underlying the 1980-81 Granite Policy is a primary policy issued by the Home Insurance Company ("Home"). CP 23733, 4648-4702. The Home policy provided \$100,000 of GL coverage and \$100,000 of Auto coverage. CP 23733, 4648-4702. Home, however, is insolvent and therefore not available to provide coverage for Gull's liability. CP 23764-67.

Underlying the 1981-82 and 1982-83 Granite Policies are two primary policies issued by TIG ("TIG Policies"). CP 23733, 3653-3733, 4521-4622. TIG's Policies provided

\$100,000 of GL property damage coverage per occurrence and \$500,000 of Auto property damage coverage per accident. CP 896, 23733. The trial court ruled that TIG's GL obligations were exhausted by payments to Gull. CP 23733; Dkt. No. 1213. TIG subsequently entered into a global settlement with Gull releasing TIG from all known or unknown past or future environmental liability coverage of any kind arising from the TIG Policies, for past, present, or future claims, for attorney fees from Gull in the coverage litigation, and bad/faith consumer protection act claims for payment of \$6.4 million. CP 23761-62, 23868.

During the course of these proceedings, the trial court made numerous summary judgment rulings declaring the contract rights between Gull and Granite.² To summarize, the trial court first denied Gull's motion that Granite policy language, case law, and industry practice require only the

² Certain of these rulings were made with regard to multiple insurers including Granite.

primary GL policy immediately below each Granite State policy be exhausted to trigger Granite State's GL coverage ("vertical exhaustion"). CP 670, 4344-50. Second, the trial court granted Granite's motion that Granite did not have a duty to defend Gull even after TIG and Gull settled TIG's Auto liability coverage. CP 23998. Third, the trial court granted Granite's request to issue an order finding Granite's policies are triggered only if Gull proves that contamination of groundwater or soil at levels above MTCA cleanup levels occurred during its policy periods. CP 3348. Fourth, the trial court dismissed with prejudice sites for which Gull presented sufficient expert evidence of compensable third party property damage and sites for which Gull acknowledged there was not yet, but later could be, contamination above MTCA cleanup levels. CP 22695, 22714. Fifth and finally, the trial court denied Granite's motion seeking an order that there remained no justiciable controversy between Gull and Granite because Gull had allegedly obtained settlements in excess of current liability. CP 23995.

D. The Parties Jointly Appealed.

The Parties stipulated that the trial court's summary judgment rulings interpreting the coverage obligations of Granite are ripe and appropriate for discretionary review under RAP 2.3(b)(4). CP 24000-04. The trial court agreed and certified that the rulings involve controlling issues of law warranting immediate review. CP 24006-09, 24155-59. The Parties then filed a joint motion for discretionary review of the trial court's summary judgment rulings, which the Court of Appeals granted. CP 24010-12.

The Court of Appeals issued its decision finding in favor of Gull on all but the two issues presented above. Gull moved for reconsideration on issue one which the Court of Appeals denied. This Petition is timely filed seeking review of the two issues on which Gull did not prevail.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decisions Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and the Courts of Appeal.

In Part D V – VI of its opinion, the Court of Appeals examined Granite’s excess insurance obligation when Gull’s underlying GL property damage coverage limits of \$100,000 was exhausted by payment and Gull’s underlying Auto property damage of \$500,000 had not been exhausted as to all Gull sites.³ The Court of Appeals held that where a Gull environmental liability was covered both by GL and by Auto insurance, Granite’s excess liability did not attach until Gull had expended \$600,000 per site. The Court of Appeals ignored the separate nature of GL and Auto coverage which is well

³ After TIG’s payment of \$100,000 exhausting its general liability obligations for policy years 1981-82 and 1982-83, TIG paid \$6.4 million to settle its automobile liability obligations for Gull’s environmental claims. The TIG policy had a \$500,000 limit of liability for auto coverage but no aggregate liability limit. The settlement did not allocate the \$6.4 million to payment of automobile liability at any particular site.

established in both Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions.

The Court of Appeals further ignored well-established rules of interpretation of insurance policies. Instead of Granite's excess liability coverage dropping down as required by its policy terms to act as primary insurance for GL claims such that Granite's GL obligation would attach to any liability obligation (i.e. attach at the first dollar), Gull has no GL coverage for environmental claims until \$600,000 has been expended. Gull's triggered underlying GL coverage insurer, now Granite, should at least be jointly and severally liable with Gull's Auto coverage insurer whether it be TIG or Granite. *See Am. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 413, 427-428, 951 P.2d 250 (1998). Insurance policies are to be interpreted in favor of coverage. Under the Court of Appeals decision, the exhaustion of Gull's \$100,000 aggregate liability limit means that Gull must self-insure

\$600,000 of its environmental liability before it can access Granite’s GL or Auto coverage.

It is well established under Washington law that “[a]uto insurance is a whole separate . . . category of insurance” from “comprehensive general liability insurance.” *Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat’l Ins. Co. of Omaha*, 64 Wn. App. 838, 866 n.18, 827 P.2d 1024 (1992). “Generally, a commercial general liability insurance policy does not cover any damage arising out of the use or operation of an automobile.” 35 Wash. Practice, Wash. Ins. Law & Litigation § 18:4 (updated Nov. 2018). This was the case in *Aetna Insurance Co. of Hartford v. Kent*, 85 Wn.2d 942, 540 P.2d 1383 (1975), where the court held that a GL policy did not cover the injuries sustained by an automobile passenger that were caused by falling rocks from the bed of the insured’s dump truck. *Id.* at 943, 948. The court based its decision in part on the language of the insurance policies. *Id.* at 946. While the automobile policy provided coverage for “bodily injury . . . caused by an occurrence . . .

arising out of the [o]wnership, maintenance or use . . . of any automobile,” the GL policy excluded just that from coverage. *Id.* at 946-47. Because the policies contained identical language, the court found that the GL and automobile policies “were intended to provide mutually exclusive coverage.” *Id.* at 947.

Here, too, the Auto and GL coverages are mutually exclusive. TIG’s Auto Policies provide coverage only for “bodily injury or property damage to which this insurance applies, caused by an accident and resulting from the ownership, maintenance or use of a covered auto.” CP 3700, 4575. Meanwhile, TIG’s GL Policies exclude from coverage:

(g) bodily injury or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, operation, use, loading or unloading of

(1) any automobile or aircraft owned or operated by or rented or loaned to any insured, or

(2) any other automobile or aircraft operated by any person in the course of his employment by any insured.

CP 3653, 4608. Under the plain terms of TIG's Policies, the Auto coverage applies only to property damage caused by the unloading of gasoline from Gull's tanker trucks into USTs at the stations, while the GL coverage responds to all other types of releases, such as leaking USTs and piping or customer overfills. *See, e.g.*, CP 4368-74, 4378, 5847, 21346-47 (describing types of releases). That the Auto and GL policies are mutually exclusive is also demonstrated by their different limits of coverage (\$100,000 GL and \$500,000 Auto) and premiums charged (\$9,864 GL and \$20,640 Auto for 1982-83). *See* CP 896, 23733, 4545, 3680; *see also Aetna Ins. Co.*, 85 Wn.2d at 947 (disparity in premium costs was clear evidence that GL and auto policies provided separate coverages).⁴ The

⁴ The distinction between the GL and Auto coverage is further highlighted by the trial court's decisions identifying different triggers of coverage between the GL and Auto policies. The trial court ruled that GL coverage is triggered if there is property damage during the Granite State policy period regardless of when the release occurred. CP 4387. In contrast, the trial court later ruled that TIG's Auto coverage is triggered

Granite Policies also treat GL and Auto separately acknowledging the policies as separate types with different limits of liability. CP 474.

In failing to recognize that the Auto coverage and GL coverage are separate obligations, the Court of Appeal's decision effectively left Gull without any GL coverage until exhaustion of TIG's Auto coverage. This is contrary to the policy language, defies common sense, and jeopardizes other insureds from obtaining the full benefit of their policies. The Granite State's Policies instead provide:

In the event of reduction or exhaustion of the aggregate limits of liability under said underlying insurances by reason of losses paid thereunder, this policy shall . . . in the event of exhaustion continue in force as underlying insurance, subject to all the terms and conditions of this policy.

CP 563, 588, 468. Granite State's GL policy is excess to TIG's GL policy. CP 23733. There is no dispute that TIG's

only if there is **both a release during bulk fueling and property damage** during the policy period. CP 22714-15.

GL policy is exhausted by payment. CP 23733; Dkt. No. 1213. By the terms of the Granite Policies, upon exhaustion of the underlying GL coverage, its GL coverage continues “in force as underlying insurance.” CP 563, 588, 468. In other words, after TIG’s GL exhaustion, Granite provides primary GL coverage and TIG to the extent available provides primary Auto coverage.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged the strength of these precedents. It stated at p. 29: “At first blush, then, Gull appears to have a sound argument. Because the two underlying primary policies are triggered by different occurrences and insure different risks, it seems to follow that the excess coverage should attach upon the exhaustion of either one, but not necessarily both, of the primary policies.” But the Court of Appeals deviated from these precedents in interpreting the Granite’s policy language. It did so in a way contrary to established Washington rules of insurance contract interpretation.

Washington rules of construction of insurance policies are well established. “[I]nsurance policies are construed as contracts.” *Am. Nat’l Fire Ins. Co. v. B & L Trucking & Constr. Co., Inc.*, 134 Wn.2d 413, 427, 951 P.2d 250 (1998). Accordingly, this Court considers the policy as a whole and gives it a “fair, reasonable, and sensible construction as would be given to the contract by the average person purchasing insurance.” *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted). “If the language is clear and unambiguous,” this Court “must enforce it as written and may not modify it or create ambiguity where none exists.” *Id.* at 428. But if a clause is ambiguous—meaning “it is fairly susceptible to two different interpretations, both of which are reasonable”—this Court may rely on extrinsic evidence of the intent of the parties. *Id.* Any ambiguity remaining after examination of extrinsic evidence must be “resolved against the drafter-insurer and in favor of the insured.” *Id.*

Here, the Court of Appeals looked to the Granite policy definition of “Occurrence” and held (1) it merged all of the various forms of coverages to which Granite was excess into one coverage at each premises and (2) it applied the highest limit of liability to claims at that premises although some of the coverages were at lower limits. It did so without even purporting to apply the well-established rules of Washington rules of insurance policy interpretation and did so in a way contrary to those rules.

First, the purpose of the “Occurrence” language only determines the number of occurrences at a given location: “All such exposure to substantially the same general conditions existing at . . . one premises location shall be deemed one occurrence.” The contamination released by leaking pipes and tanks at a single Gull site are deemed one GL property damage occurrence, not multiple occurrences which would raise Granite’s exposure. That limitation is common. The purpose of the “occurrence” clause in an insurance policy is to identify

the number of accidents, events or conditions triggering coverage as most policies have a per occurrence limit of liability and an aggregate limit of liability which generally is higher. *Cf. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Comm. Union Ins. Co.*, 142 Wn.2d 654, 681-682, 15 P.3d 115 (2000). The language does not merge coverages such that a GL occurrence is treated as one encompassing also Auto liability for tanker overfill spills. Put another way, the “Occurrence” definition lists multiple different types of damages (personal injury, property damage or advertising injury which are also separately defined in the Granite Policy CP 469) not different types of insurance coverage. GL insurance can cover both personal injury, property damage, and advertising liability. Automobile also covers both personal injury and property damage. But as established above, GL policies cover different risks than Auto policies. To the extent that there is ambiguity on this point, Washington law is clear that the ambiguity must be resolved in favor of coverage. Moreover, because the Court of Appeals

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