FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/8/2022 3:27 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100462-1

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GULL INDUSTRIES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

### GRANITE STATE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Respondent

### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey D. Laveson, WSBA No. 16351 Linda B. Clapham, WSBA No. 16735 Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

Attorneys for Respondent Granite State Insurance Company

### **

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

In so holding, the Court of Appeals followed established Washington rules of contract construction. Specifically, the excess policy "Insuring Agreement" included the following "Limitation of Liability" language—the language that makes the Granite state policies excess and not primary insurance:

The Company shall only be liable for the ultimate net loss, the excess of . . .

(a) The limits of the underlying *insurances* as set out in the schedule in respect of each occurrence covered by said underlying *insurances*...

Both the primary GL and primary Auto Liability insurances are "set out" in the Granite State policies' "schedule" of underlying insurances, and Gull itself alleged that both insurances apply to provide coverage "jointly and severally" for all costs to remediate indivisible groundwater contamination. The Court of Appeals correctly interpreted the unambiguous definition of the

term "occurrence" in the excess policy, which refers to "a continuous and repeated exposure to conditions":

Granite State's "limit of liability" provision is a statement of limitation. The policies plainly state that Granite State will be liable for "each occurrence covered by said underlying insurances." And then it sets forth the definition of occurrence that controls the excess policy.

Thus, an "occurrence" includes "a continuous or repeated exposure to conditions" which results in property damage to the property of However, all such exposure to another. conditions "existing at or emanating from one premises location shall be deemed one occurrence." Thus, the excess policy itself defines as one occurrence that which is two different risks w[h]ere referenced in the underlying policies. Because the limits of the underlying policies that covered occurrence have not been both exhausted as to all sites, Granite State's excess obligation is not triggered.

(COA Opinion, p. 31).

The Court of Appeals' analysis was also based on *Gull's own factual allegation* that a combination of general and auto operations concurrently caused indivisible third-party property damage. CP 1-17, 118-209, 214-229. Gull's

legal position that its primary GL and Auto coverages were jointly and severally liable for all cleanup costs for this indivisible harm, and this Court's "joint and several" ruling in American National Fire Insurance Co. v. B&L Trucking & Construction Co., 134 Wn.2d 413, 424, 951 P.2d 250 (1998) ("[A]ll insurers on the risk during the time of ongoing damage have a joint and several obligation to provide full coverage for all damages."), were key to and fully support the Court of Appeals analysis.

Thus, the Court of Appeals included both limits of the applicable underlying insurances (GL and Auto) within each year of coverage—a total of \$600,000—in determining the applicable excess coverage "attachment point" in each policy year. Gull quarrels that the Court of Appeals did not recognize the separate obligations owed under the primary GL and Auto insurance coverages. (Petition, p. 20.) To the contrary, the Court of Appeals recognized but rejected Gull's argument, holding that the

excess policy language, which required exhaustion of the implicated underlying primary coverages before the excess coverage must respond, was controlling. (COA Opinion, p. 31.)

Gull's flawed criticism of the Court's application of the excess policies' "occurrence" definition ignores the excess policy language requiring exhaustion of "underlying insurances"—plural—as well as the language in the excess policy "Limit of Liability" clause and "other insurance" clause; all of which unambiguously provide that the Granite State excess coverage is excess to all implicated underlying primary insurance coverages. It was Gull itself that "implicated" both its primary GL and Auto coverages, alleging joint and several liability under both concurrent coverages (GL and AUTO) for indivisible third-party property damage:

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for the following relief:

45. **Declaratory Judgment.** For a judgment declaring that **each defendant is jointly and severally liable**, up to each insurer's applicable policy limits, for all defense and indemnity expenses, incurred and to be incurred, associated with environmental property damage at the Sites.

CP 74. The Court of Appeals decision on the attachment point issue is a straightforward application of *B&L Trucking* based on Gull's own allegations.

Notably, the Court of Appeals ruled in favor of Gull in applying vertical exhaustion (exhaustion of the applicable underlying primary coverage in a *single* policy year) vs. horizontal exhaustion (exhaustion of all applicable underlying primary coverage in *all* implicated policy years). The Court of Appeals has remanded to the trial court to apply these exhaustion principles to determine Granite State's excess coverage obligations, as other factual and legal issues are necessary to the trial court's consideration of this issue.

# B. The Court of Appeals "Attachment Point" Analysis is Consistent With the "Vertical Exhaustion" Cases Cited by Gull and Relied Upon by the Court of Appeals.

In ruling in favor of Gull on the issue of "vertical" exhaustion, the Court of Appeals relied on *Montrose* Chemical Corp. v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County, 9 Cal. 5th 215, 460 P.3d 1201, 260 Cal. Rptr. 3d 822 (2020); Santa Fe Braun, Inc. v. Insurance Co. of North *America*, 52 Cal. App. 5th 19, 265 Cal. Rptr. 3d 692 (2020), review denied, No. S264060 (Cal. Sep. 30, 2020); and Devington Condominium Association v. Steadfast *Insurance Co.*, No. Co6-1213 MJP, 2007 WL 869954 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 20, 2007). These same cases also support the Court of Appeals' attachment point analysis requiring exhaustion of all applicable underlying primary coverages available in the same policy year and listed in the excess policy "schedule of underlying insurance." In Montrose, the California Supreme Court expressly held that access to the excess coverage required exhaustion of the applicable underlying primary policies purchased for the same policy year:

[T]he policies are most naturally read to mean that Montrose may access its excess insurance whenever it has *exhausted the other directly underlying excess insurance policies* [plural] that were purchased for the same policy period. (citing *Montrose*, 460 P.3d at 1212-13.)

(COA Opinion, 17) (emphasis added).

[I]n a case involving continuous injury, where all primary insurance has been exhausted, the policy language at issue here permits the insured to access any excess policy for indemnification during a triggered policy period *once the directly underlying excess insurance has been exhausted.* (citing Montrose, 460 P.3d at 1215).

(COA Opinion, 18-19) (emphasis added). In discussing Santa Fe, the Court of Appeals further explained that the California Court of Appeals held that "the insured becomes entitled to the coverage it purchased from the excess carriers once the primary policies [plural] specified in the excess policy have been exhausted." Id. (citing, Santa Fe, 52 Cal. App. 5th at 29

(emphasis added). And, in discussing Judge Pechman's decision in *Devington*, the Court of Appeals explained:

Judge Pechman then recognized that "other insurance" refers to other insurers [plural] that insure (1) the same risk (2) for the same entity (3) *during the same period.* Devington, 2007 WL 869954 at \*3-4 (concluding "that 'other insurance' clauses do not apply where the at-issue policies provided consecutive rather than concurrent insurance coverage").

(COA Opinion, p. 28) (emphasis added).

These cases — all cited and relied upon by Gull and the Court of Appeals in support of Gull's "vertical exhaustion" argument — also support the Court of Appeals' "attachment point" analysis requiring exhaustion of the scheduled underlying primary policies specified in the excess policy and purchased for the same policy period. The Court of Appeals' decision on the "attachment point" issue is wholly consistent with the legal precedent cited and relied upon by Gull itself. Gull cannot credibly ask this Court to apply these cases to support Gull on the issue of vertical (versus horizontal) exhaustion and at the same

time ask this Court to ignore these same cases on the related attachment point issue Gull now challenges.

### C. The Court of Appeals' "Attachment Point" Analysis does not Create a "Gap" in Primary Coverage

Gull argues that the Court of Appeals' "attachment point" ruling creates a gap in primary coverage. It does not. Gull's argument asks this Court to overlook the undisputed fact that Gull has both primary GL and primary Auto coverage, that Gull voluntarily settled with those primary insurers, and that Gull now sits on a significant \$18 million surplus paid to Gull by its primary GL and Auto insurers to cover Gull's environmental liabilities.

As a practical matter, Gull's diminishing liability exposure provides no indication that Gull will ever deplete its \$18 million windfall. As the Court of Appeals observed, and contrary to Gull's dire predictions about its potential future environmental liability, "based on the factual record herein, the evidence was that where property damage had

not yet taken place, at this late date it was unlikely to do so." (See COA Opinion, p. 52). This is further supported by Gull's actual, declining environmental liability over the past decade, which had been paid for entirely with the interest Gull has earned on the \$18 million.<sup>3</sup> Gull now self-insures the primary layer of coverage, and has ample funds to do so.

D. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial Court's Summary Judgment Dismissal of Sites Where Gull Admitted There Was No Evidence of Third-Party Property Damage

This Court should reject Gull's Petition to review the Court of Appeals' ruling affirming the summary judgment dismissal of sites where Gull, after five years of litigation, finally *admitted* there was *no* evidence of *any* third-party property damage (the "admitted sites"). This affirmance was both appropriate and required by the factual record

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Since 2007, Gull has spent less than \$200,000 per year on cleanup costs (CP 23621), well within nominal interest on Gull's \$18 million surplus.

indicating that "where property damage had not yet taken place, at this late date it was unlikely to do so," as well as the parties' lengthy and costly history in litigating coverage for those "admitted" sites. (COA Opinion, p. 52) (citing *Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) (holding that summary judgment is proper when the nonmoving party fails to "present evidence that demonstrates that material facts are in dispute)).

The Court of Appeals was also correct in affirming the trial court's discretionary ruling that "dismissal [without prejudice] of these sites, at this stage of litigation would unduly prejudice defendants" and that the "investment of time, money and resources into defending against these claims—some five years after this lawsuit was filed—would be completely wasted if dismissed [without prejudice] now." (COA Opinion, fn. 39) (citing *Haselwood v. Bremerton Ice Arena, Inc.*, 137 Wn. App. 872, 889, 155

P.3d 952 (2007) (holding that a trial court's refusal to grant leave to amend a complaint will not be overturned on appeal unless the decision was a manifest abuse of discretion). The Court of Appeals properly held that the court did not abuse its discretion, given these facts, in rejecting Gull's attempted dismissal with prejudice.

This Court should disregard Gull's improper reference to alleged evidence of a lawsuit involving Site 204. (*See* Petition, pp. 24-25.) The referenced litigation—filed *before* the second oral argument in this case and *before* Gull filed its motion for reconsideration—was never brought to the Court of Appeals' attention via a request to supplement the record or other appropriate mechanism. The purported evidence is not part of the record on appeal and its inclusion in Gull's petition is improper and should be completely disregarded. *See Doe v. Puget Sound Blood Ctr.*, 117 Wn.2d 772, 786, 819 P.2d 370 (1991) (an appellate court will not consider matters of fact that have no support

in the record); *Dibble v. Washington Food Co.*, 57 Wash. 176, 106 P. 760 (1910) (holding that "[m]atters outside of the record will not be considered, although discussed in the briefs.").

Gull has outright failed to show error, much less something worthy of review by this Court.

### E. Self-Insurance is not Against Public Policy

Insureds self-insure all the time. Here, Gull voluntarily accepted \$49 million from a number of its other Gull's environmental insurers to cover cleanup obligations—obligations that would otherwise still be covered by those primary insurers. In so doing, Gull voluntarily assumed the obligations of its primary insurers to "self-insure" the primary layer of coverage. There is no public policy prohibition again this arrangement, which Gull voluntarily entered into. Gull contracted with Granite State to provide coverage in excess of the implicated

primary policy *limits*—regardless of where the payment comes from.

Moreover, even where "gaps" do occur in primary coverage due to the insolvency of an underlying insurer as happened with primary insurer Home Insurance Company during the 1980-1981 policy period—under Washington Law excess insurers do not "drop down" to take the place of an insolvent primary insurer. *Polygon* Nw. Co. v. Am. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co., 143 Wn. App. 753, 770-74, 189 P.3d 777 (2008)( insurer had obligation to pay insured's damages in excess of insolvent primary insurer's policy limits, but was not liable for gap created by the insolvency). Thus, Gull's "public policy" argument of perceived "gaps" occasioned by Gull's voluntary settlement agreements with underlying insurers is not supported by the facts of this case, or by Washington law.

### F. Supreme Court Review is Premature

Of the 220-plus sites implicated by Gull in this declaratory judgment action, more than half remain for further adjudication. Of the five Bellwether sites, Gull was able to establish "trigger of coverage" (*i.e.*, third-party property damage during the 1980-1983 Granite State excess policy years) at only one site—Meeker Street—and Gull's total liability at that site was \$325,818—well under the \$600,000 attachment point.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, there remains much to be done by the trial court, especially with respect to still undetermined and unadjudicated facts. The Court of Appeals expressly acknowledged the transitory import of its rulings in light of this basic reality of remand:

The trial court's reengagement with its rulings will not be constrained by CR 59 or any other state or local procedural rule. Our purpose in accepting discretionary review of this case is to assist the trial court. It should pay no heed to claims that any unreviewed rulings remain as the "law of the case" or any other such claim. *All of the trial court's rulings remain* 

interlocutory, and thus subject to change. The trial court has free rein to alter any ruling it has heretofore made as a result of the issuance of this opinion.

(COA Opinion, p. 27) (emphasis added).

This Court should not interject itself into a case where so much remains to be done at the trial court level. This Court should allow the matter to return to the trial court to allow the parties to litigate the issues that still need to be addressed before the final contours of the case can be known for further appellate consideration.

### V. CONCLUSION

This Court should deny review.

This document contains 3,947 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.